RECEIVED

Sep 08 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas
Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge
Trial Court Case No. 2022CP1000846

Appellate Case No. 2023-001082

TOWN OF SULLIVAN'S ISLAND,

Respondent,

vs.

NATHAN BLUESTEIN and
THEODORE ALBENESIUS, III,

Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

HOOD LAW FIRM, LLC

172 Meeting Street
Post Office Box 1508
Charleston, SC 29401/02
Ph: (843) 577-4435
Fx: (843) 722-1630

James B. Hood (70212)
james.hood@hoodlaw.com

Virginia R. Floyd (101849)
virginia.floyd@hoodlaw.com

Lisa B. Bisso (105258)
lisa.bisso@hoodlaw.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Circuit Court err in finding that the Settlement Agreement, as authorized by the Town Council and approved by the court, is invalid and unenforceable?

Or as otherwise stated:

Is the Settlement Agreement between the Town and the Defendant Property Owners, that resolved pending litigation regarding enforcement of the 1991 Deed, valid and enforceable?

- A. Did the Circuit Court err in finding that the Settlement Agreement is invalid and unenforceable because it involves the Town's legislative functions or governmental powers?

Or as otherwise stated:

Does the subject matter of the Settlement Agreement involve the Town's business or proprietary functions as owner of the Accreted Land legally bound to comply with its maintenance responsibilities under the covenants in the 1991 Deed?

- B. Did Judge McCoy err in finding that the Settlement Agreement is unreasonable as a matter of law?

Or, as otherwise stated:

Is the Settlement Agreement, as approved by Judge McCoy, a fair and reasonable and necessary or advantageous business agreement to meet the Town's obligations to maintain the vegetation on the Accreted Land?

- II. Did the Circuit Court err in refusing to enforce the Severability Clause of the Settlement Agreement to excise only such provisions that purportedly bind a future Town Council in regard to a legislative function or governmental power?
- III. Did the Circuit Court err in refusing to nullify the corresponding Release and reinstate the Original Deed Enforcement Action after invalidating the Settlement Agreement?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This declaratory judgment action arises out of a Settlement Agreement reached in separate litigation that, itself, has already been before this Court - Nathan Bluestein, Ettaleah Bluestein, M.D., Theodore Albenesius, III, and Karen Albenesius, v. Town of Sullivan's Island and Sullivan's Island Town Council, Case No. 2010-CP-10-5449 (the "Original Deed Enforcement Action"). In that suit, Nathan Bluestein and Theodore Albenesius, III¹ ("Property Owners") brought an action against the Town to enforce the provisions of a 1991 Deed conveying beachfront accreted land (the "Accreted Land") issued to the Town of Sullivan's Island (the "Town"). This 1991 Deed contains a specific covenant regarding the trimming and pruning of vegetation on the Accreted Land and provides property owners with a right to enforce the same. After the Master-in-Equity granted summary judgment to the Town on all claims, the action proceeded through a lengthy appeal before the Court of Appeals and then the Supreme Court, until ultimately, the grant of summary judgment was reversed and the Original Deed Enforcement Action was remanded to the trial court for further proceedings.² On remand, the parties negotiated a settlement which was memorialized in a written Settlement Agreement, authorized by a resolution from the Town Council, and approved by the Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge, in October 2020. Judge McCoy also approved one amendment to the Settlement Agreement in April 2021.

After the next election, only sixteen (16) months after the Settlement Agreement was approved and only ten (10) months after its amendment was approved, the Town commenced this action and sued the original plaintiffs to the Original Deed Enforcement Action (Messers Bluestein

¹ The alignment of the Defendants changed due to death and divorce during the course of the litigation.

² Bluestein v. Town of Sullivan's Island, 424 S.C. 362, 818 S.E.2d 239 (Ct. App. 2018), *rev'd* 429 S.C. 458, 839 S.E.2d 879 (2020).

and Albanesi, the “Property Owners”), seeking to invalidate the very Settlement Agreement that the Town had negotiated, approved, and executed and that the Circuit Court had adopted and approved to resolve the Original Deed Enforcement Action. This new effort has been pursued, ostensibly, on the ground that provisions of the Settlement Agreement improperly restrict the legislative/governmental powers and propriety functions of the successor Town Council. [ROA ___; Complaint, filed February 21, 2022.] The Defendant Property Owners filed an answer with counterclaims for breach of contract, specific performance, and promissory estoppel. [ROA ___; Answer and Counterclaims, filed April 13, 2022.] The Town filed a reply to the counterclaims, and then promptly filed a motion for summary judgment. [ROA ___, ___; Reply, filed May 13, 2022. ROA ___; Motion, filed May 23, 2022.]

On September 22, 2022, the Town’s motion for summary judgment came before the same Circuit Judge who had previously approved and adopted the Settlement Agreement, the Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy. [ROA ___; Transcript.] Both parties submitted memoranda with supporting exhibits. [ROA ___; Plaintiff’s memorandum with exhibits, filed May 23, 2022. ROA ___; Defendants’ memorandum with exhibits, filed September 16, 2022.] The Court requested that both parties submit proposed orders following the hearing. Ultimately, on January 30, 2023, Judge McCoy adopted and signed the Town’s proposed order without revision, granting summary judgment to the Town and holding, as a matter of law, that:

[T]he Settlement Agreement is invalid and unenforceable as a matter of law because it involves the legislative/governmental powers of the Town and purports to bind the current and future town councils. However, even if the Settlement Agreement could somehow be said to involve only proprietary/business functions, it is still invalid and unenforceable because it is unreasonable as a matter of law.

[ROA ___; Order, p. 12.] The order also granted summary judgment to the Town on the Property Owners’ counterclaims for specific performance, breach of contract, and promissory estoppel associated with the Settlement Agreement.

The Property Owners filed a motion to alter or amend, asking Judge McCoy to reconsider her rulings and enter judgment upholding and enforcing the Settlement Agreement. In addition, the Property Owners asked Judge McCoy to address the issue raised as to enforcement of the severability provision of the Settlement Agreement, and to address the impact of her ruling on the Original Lawsuit. [ROA ___; Motion, filed February 8, 2023.] In a Form 4 Order filed on June 5, 2023, Judge McCoy summarily denied the motion without addressing the issues raised. [ROA ___; Order.] The Property Owners filed and served a Notice of Appeal on July 5, 2023. [ROA ___; NOA.]

Though the Town does not in this action appear to question the authority of its prior Town Council to enter into the 1991 transaction that resulted in the Deed by which it now holds ownership of the Accreted Land, the Town is asserting that the Town Council (presiding in 2020) somehow lacked the authority to settle litigation relating to its obligations under the 1991 Deed. Effectively, at the whim of the current Town Council, the settlement is somehow an improper “legislative” constraint on the authority of the Town Council while the original land transfer was a proper “proprietary” action.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Undisputed Facts regarding the 1991 Deed of the Accreted Land

A central context of the 1991 Deed and the Original Deed Enforcement Action is the unique geology of the Sullivan’s Island shoreline, as a barrier island where the beachfront lands have accreted over the years. The Accreted Land has grown and extended the dune, beach and shore

lines throughout parts of the Island, increasing the distance between the privately-held properties and the shore itself.

Today, the Town holds the Accreted Land pursuant to a 1991 Deed issued to it by the Lowcountry Open Land Trust (the “Trust”). 839 S.E.2d at 880. As noted by the Supreme Court in the Original Deed Enforcement Action, the Town began expressing concern about the future of the Accreted Land in the mid-1980s, and explored options for protecting the Accreted Land from development. 839 S.E.2d at 880. Eventually in 1991, after Hurricane Hugo, the Town negotiated a two-step transfer agreement with the Trust to protect the accreting land, pursuant to which the Town deeded the Accreted Land to the Trust and the Trust transferred the land back to the Town subject to a number of deed restrictions. *Id.*; [ROA ___; MIO Ex. 1 – Deed as recorded in BOOK 200 PG 496 – 504.]

The 1991 Deed describes the Accreted Land as having “aesthetic, scientific, educational, and ecological value in its present state as a natural area which has not been subject to development or exploitation.” [ROA ___; MIO Ex. 1 - Deed as recorded in BOOK 200 PG 496.] The 1991 Deed expressly states the parties’ intention of protecting the Accreted Land as a “desire to place restrictions upon the Property for the purposes of, inter alia retaining land or water areas predominantly in their natural, scenic, open or wooded condition or as suitable habitat for fish, plants, or wildlife.” [Id.] The 1991 Deed further expresses the intention to preserve the Accreted Land in the conditions as existed in February 1991: “WHEREAS, "natural, scientific, educational, aesthetic, scenic and recreational resource," as used herein shall, without limiting the generality of the terms, mean the condition of the Property *at the time of this grant*” [Emphasis added.] [Id.] In order to effectuate that intent to preserve the conditions on the Accreted Land as it existed in February 1991 at the time of the transfer, the 1991 Deed specifically provides for methods of

documenting that condition, including survey maps, aerial photographs, and on-site photographs.
[Id.]

The 1991 Deed contains express restrictions which serve the purpose and intent of preserving the Accreted Land as it existed in February 1991, including the height and nature of the vegetation, and limits any efforts or action by the Town to alter the condition or character of the Accreted Land subject to limited conditions and requirements. By the express provisions of the 1991 Deed, the Defendant Property Owners are third party beneficiaries of the 1991 deed vested with enforcement rights. [ROA ___; Deed ¶ 5, BOOK 200 PG 498.]

Undisputed Facts regarding the Original Deed Enforcement Action to Enforce the 1991 Deed

Although the 1991 Deed obligates the Town to maintain the vegetation on the Accreted Land, as a matter of local practice, the adjacent property owners actually took the steps to keep up with trimming the vegetation on the Accreted Land adjacent to their property. At the time the 1991 Deed was executed, the Town had a trimming ordinance which provided that residents/owners of the front-row lots, such as those owned by the Plaintiffs, could obtain permits to prune, cut and trim all varieties of trees and to a height of no less than three (3) feet without any restriction as to the time of year. [ROA ___, ___; Compl. ¶ 9; Answer ¶ 8.] Just a few years later, the Town Council – with then-newly elected members -- radically rewrote the trimming ordinance. [ROA ___, ___; Compl. ¶ 12; Answer ¶ 11.] As rewritten, the ordinance added limitations on the time of year when trimming could be done and the species of trees that could be trimmed, but most significantly, the Town changed the height limitation from three (3) feet to seven (7) feet. Ten years later the Town again amended the trimming ordinance, changing the height limitation. [ROA ___, ___, ___; Compl. ¶ 13; Answer ¶ 12; Town MSJ - Ex. B.)

As noted by the Court of Appeals in the Original Deed Enforcement Action, at the time of the 1991 Deed, the ocean adjacent land was covered in sea oats and wildflowers and the Property Owners had unobstructed ocean views and breezes; however, the vegetation on the Accreted Land land has grown into a maritime forest as a result of the Town's changes to the trimming and pruning ordinances. 818 S.E.2d at 242. In the summer of 2010, Property Owners made applications to the Town for permits to trim and prune the Accreted Land to 1991 levels. When the Town denied the permits, Property Owners filed the Original Deed Enforcement Action against the Town asserting a number of claims, including breach of contract and nuisance. Property Owners alleged that the unchecked growth of vegetation on the ocean adjacent land has resulted in public and private harms and claimed that they have been deprived of their ocean views and breezes and that the overgrowth has caused other dangers and nuisances.

The Master-in-Equity granted summary judgment to the Town on all claims, and the Court of Appeals affirmed. 818 S.E.2d 239. However, the Supreme Court reversed and remanded to the trial court, holding that "the 1991 deed is ambiguous in terms of the Town's maintenance responsibilities towards the accreting land." 839 S.E.2d 879, 882.

Undisputed Facts regarding the 2020 Settlement Agreement of the Original Lawsuit

On remand from the Supreme Court, the Town and the Property Owners negotiated an agreement to end the litigation that had by that time been dragging on for a decade. The Settlement Agreement was presented to the Town Council, and a resolution approving and adopting the same was passed on October 2, 2020:

Making Specific Findings of Fact, Authorizing Settlement of Bluestein v. Sullivan's Island on the general parameters set forth below, and Authorizing Staff to Take All Actions Necessary and Proper to Implement the Described settlement including procurement actions in accordance with Town policy, the development of detailed plans and applications, and the submittal of applications necessary to effectuate this settlement. [ROA ___; MIO Ex. 3.]

The Settlement Agreement was executed by the individual Property Owners, and the Town’s Attorney on behalf of the Town Council on October 7, 2020. [ROA ___; MIO Ex. 4.]

Thereafter, the Parties took the further step of memorializing the Settlement Agreement by submitting a consent motion to the Circuit Court seeking judicial approval of the Settlement Agreement. The Settlement Agreement was approved by the Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge, by Order dated October 15, 2020, which found that the Settlement Agreement “is proper and in the best interest of all Parties” and further authorized the Town to consummate the settlement per the Settlement Agreement. [ROA ___; MIO Ex. 4.]

After the Settlement Agreement was executed, approved, and consummated, the engineering firm retained by the Town to conduct a tree survey identified an issue regarding regulatory applications that needed to be submitted to certain State and/or Federal agencies in order to implement the work plan. With the guidance of the engineering firm, the Town and the Property Owners reached an agreement for a work plan to replace the scope of work described in the original Settlement Agreement. The Amendment was submitted to the Court for approval by a joint consent motion, and an Order Amending Settlement was entered by Judge McCoy on April 12, 2021. [ROA ___; MIO Ex. 5.]

The Terms of the Settlement Agreement

The compromise between the Property Owners and the Town reached in the Original Deed Enforcement Action thoughtfully and rationally addressed the Town’s rights and obligations in regards to the unchecked vegetation growth throughout the Accreted Land—growth that has resulted in a marine forest and that has created a variety of problems ranging from depriving the Property Owners of their ocean views and breezes and diminishing their property values to creating dangerous nuisances including fire hazards, mosquitos, raccoons, snakes, and coyotes. As part of

the settlement negotiation process, the 1991 Deed's Grantor, the Trust, was consulted and an engineering firm retained to conduct a tree survey to identify (on a tree-by-tree basis) which select vegetation would be trimmed so as to reasonably achieve the stated requirements of the 1991 Deed. This survey is attached to and incorporated in the Settlement Agreement

During that process, the Town identified multiple problems created by the overgrowth, including difficulty applying anti-mosquito treatments, an increased prevalence of pests; unhealthy stagnant conditions from impeded airflow, wildfire risks as well obstructions to ocean views. The Parties concluded that: "The only way to address excessive vegetation growth and density is selective thinning," and a plan was proposed (as later amended) that presented "a selective thinning plan carefully tailored to address these stated concerns while maximizing retained ecological, educational and scientific goals." [ROA ___; MIO Ex. 4.] As expressly stated, the Town Council expressly found that the work plan adopted by the Settlement Agreement "balances the competing needs of beach front and inland island residents and the ecological and natural interests on the one hand and human needs and safety on the other." [ROA ___; *id.*]

The Settlement Agreement's work plan contemplates an initial trimming and thinning to be conducted in several stages. The work plan sets specific details for this initial trimming and thinning within a "Transition Zone" running 100 ft. seaward of private property lines adjacent to the Accreted Land as well as three unique "Zones" within the remaining portion of the Accreted Land between the "Transition Zone" and the shore line.³ Beyond this initial trimming and thinning work, the Settlement Agreement does not prescribe or mandate a permanent or indefinite work plan for future management activities beyond providing that, "going forward" a naturalist would

³ The precise locations of the "Transition Zone", "Zone 1", "Zone 2", and "Zone 3" are clearly marked on the survey of the Accreted Land prepared by Thomas & Hutton that is attached to and incorporated in the Settlement Agreement itself. [ROA _____ - 10/2020 settlement agreement.]

be consulted to review the condition of the Accreted Land on a recurring basis for consideration in making any changes that might be necessary to maintain appropriate levels of density and diversity. The Settlement Agreement suggests, but does not require, that this consultation occur every five (5) years.

While funding only for the initial work in the Transition Zone will be from the Town, work in three far larger Zones encompassing the vast majority of the Accreted Land is conditioned on receipt, on a block-by-block basis, of adequate donations or grants. More specifically, the work plan provides that thinning of the 2500 Block of Atlantic (where the Defendants own property) was to proceed with all deliberate speed after formal settlement approval by Council. Other homeowners are given a one-year period to provide funds to the Town to cover the expenses of trimming on the Accreted Lane adjacent to their block. Thus, while the physical work required to perform the Settlement Agreement's scope of work in the three designated Zones within the Accreted Land is to be performed by a landscaping or vegetation management contractor selected in the Town's discretion, in accordance with the Town's usual procurement process, it is not to be funded by taxpayer monies.

The Settlement Agreement also acknowledged that the work could not be conducted without permitting required through DHEC's Office of Ocean and Coastal Resource Management (OCRM). The Settlement Agreement contemplates the importance of consultation with OCRM and the Grantor, the Trust, for the Town to develop its implementation plan and permit application, and the necessity of engaging an engineer and/or technical consultant to develop an appropriate, detailed plan specifying methods and objectives, and to make appropriate regulatory applications. The Parties further agreed to cooperate in good faith to obtain any required permits.

Following the original approval of the Settlement Agreement by the Town and the Circuit Court, and after encountering certain field conditions during the preparation of regulatory applications, the retained engineering firm proposed a revised work plan that was adopted and approved as an amendment to the Settlement Agreement by Judge McCoy in April 2021. [ROA ____; MIO Ex. 5.]

The Town's Refusal to Honor the Settlement Agreement

Less than a month after obtaining Judge McCoy's approval of the amendment to the Settlement Agreement, the Town broke its promise to cooperate in good faith, when the Town Council (now comprised of several newly elected members) voted to initiate legal proceedings to invalidate the Settlement Agreement.

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