RECEIVED

Feb 08 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court**

**APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable James O. Spence, Master in Equity**

**Supreme Court Appellate Case No. 2021-001292
Court of Appeals Appellate Case No. 2018-000436
Circuit Court Case No. 2016-CP-32-03572**

**Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, as Trustee
for NovaStar Mortgage Funding Trust, Series 2007-1
NovaStar Equity Loan Asset Backed Certificates, Series 2007-1,**

Respondent,

v.

**Patricia Owens a/k/a Patricia Ann Owens; Tammy
M. Bailey; South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles,**

Defendants,

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

Petitioners’ claim in the 2013 Action alleging violation of the Attorney Preference Statute bears a strong similarity to the TILA claims at issue in *Whigham* and other federal decisions. Because foreclosure is no more logically related to the attorney-preference claim than to other statutory consumer claims, these decisions lend further persuasive support to Deutsche Bank’s position

IV. The Petitioners’ remaining arguments to the contrary are unpersuasive and unavailing.

Bailey and Owens attempt to frame this appeal as a David-versus-Goliath dispute, casting Deutsche Bank as a “powerful, moneyed litigant[]” (Brief at 28) seeking a “pro-bank, anti-consumer special rule” (Brief at 30) that is not only “unjust” and “unfair” but also “unsavory” (Brief at 29). Once the Court peels back this exaggerated window dressing and Bailey and Owens’s associated appeal to fairness—which Deutsche Bank believes cuts in its favor in any

event—it will reveal Petitioners’ naked legal arguments to be incorrect, both individually and collectively.

A. Petitioners’ prayer for relief in the 2013 Action did not request non-enforcement of the Note.

Bailey and Owens complain that the Court of Appeals was “unduly focused” on their prayer for relief in the 2013 Action. (Brief at 25). But Petitioners made arguments below premised on their prayer for relief and the relief to which they might be entitled. (*See, e.g.*, R. pp. 179 lines 16–24, 588, 599–600, 603–604, 606–607, 655).¹⁴ Petitioners’ emphasis and focus on their vague and broad request for “all relief available” to suggest they were seeking non-enforcement of the Note reveals the weakness in their position. At the time Petitioners filed suit in 2013, the Note was not even in default and no one had brought an action on the debt. Had Petitioners actually sought a declaration that the loan was unenforceable, they presumably would have directly requested this relief in their prayer. Nevertheless, Petitioners seek a rule that would place an undue burden on defendants to divine the intent of vague and poorly defined pleadings.

The Court of Appeals correctly declined to agree with Bailey and Owens’ argument about the very attenuated connection between their prayer for relief in the 2013 Action, and a prospective foreclosure counterclaim. As the argument goes, Bailey and Owens contend that their request for “all relief available” under the Attorney Preference Statute (*see* R. p. 392, ¶ 37; R. p. 394, ¶ e) incorporated the possibility that a court might refuse to enforce the loan as a statutory remedy, thereby allegedly causing a foreclosure counterclaim to affect the enforceability of their claim. However, as the Court of Appeals noted, Bailey and Owens “did not specifically request a determination that the Mortgage or the underlying obligation to repay the loan was unenforceable.”

¹⁴ In granting summary judgment to Bailey and Owens on Deutsche Bank’s foreclosure claim, the trial court likewise seemed to rely on what Bailey and Owens specifically pled in their prayer for relief. (*See* R. p. 21–22).

(R. p. 717). Non-enforcement of the loan is only one of seven remedies that a trial court can, in its discretion, impose and only upon finding unconscionability.¹⁵ This alleged connection—between a counterclaim and the enforceability of the leading claim—is, therefore, far more attenuated than that found in controlling precedent.

The customary measure of damages for violation of the Attorney Preference Statute is monetary: actual damages plus “an amount determined by the court of not less than one thousand five hundred dollars and not more than seven thousand five hundred dollars.” S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-105(A). If a court determines the loan transaction was “induced by unconscionable conduct,” it *may* award one of seven different categories of damages.¹⁶ And only one of these seven categories of damages involves refusal to enforce the loan agreement. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-105(C)(1). In other words, *if* a trial court determined that a party’s violation of the Attorney Preference Statute meant that the underlying transaction was induced by unconscionable conduct, and *if* the trial court decided to exercise its discretion to impose damages, and *if* the trial court elected one of seven different types of remedies to impose (to the exclusion of all others), then a foreclosure action brought by Deutsche Bank as a counterclaim would affect the *remedy*.

However, the foreclosure claim—even assuming a trial court made each of every one of

¹⁵ It is doubtful that the remedies under S.C. Code 37-10-105(c) even apply to mortgage loans, as the statute references transactions found to be “unconscionable pursuant to Section 37-5-108,” a statute addressing “consumer credit transactions,” which do not include mortgages. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 37-3-105.

¹⁶ These categories of damages include (1) refuse to enforce the agreement, *see* S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-105(C)(1); (2) refuse to enforce a term or part of the agreement, *see id.*; (3) refuse to enforce a particular transaction, *see id.*; (4) enforce only the portion of the agreement without the unconscionable term, *see id.* § 37-10-105(C)(2); (5) limit the application of the unconscionable term or part to avoid an unconscionable result, *see id.*; (6) rewrite or modify the agreement, *see id.* § 37-10-105(C)(3); or (7) award monetary damages of up to the loan finance charge, allow repayment of the unpaid balance of the loan without any finance charge, award up to twice the amount of excess loan finance charges paid to a creditor, and award attorneys’ fees and costs, *see id.* § 37-10-10(C)(4).

the above discretionary decisions—would not affect a trial court’s ability to find Deutsche Bank liable for violation of the Attorney Preference Statute, it would not prevent the trial court from finding the loan transaction to be induced by unconscionable conduct, and it would not prevent the trial court from awarding damages and imposing other remedies. In other words, even in the perfect set of circumstances from Bailey and Owens’ standpoint, they could still pursue, enforce, and be awarded damages for violation of the Attorney Preference Statute, despite a successful foreclosure counterclaim.

The alleged “connection” Bailey and Owens have attempted to craft is substantively different from that found in *DAV Corp.* (and in the Court of Appeals’ *Salon Proz* decision) where counterclaims premised on oral promises to modify loan terms would *necessarily* undermine and negate leading claims for foreclosure. *See DAV Corp.*, 298 S.C. at 518, 381 S.E.2d at 905 (“Clearly, there is a logical relationship between the enforceability of the note which is the subject of the foreclosure action and the validity of the purported oral agreement which, if performed, would have avoided default on the note by the joint venture.”); *Salon Proz*, 420 S.C. at 97, 800 S.E.2d at 492 (noting counterclaim alleging that lender “reneg[ed] upon promises to modify or otherwise restructure loans” (internal quotation marks omitted)). Here, by contrast, a foreclosure counterclaim would, by no means, negate or undermine Bailey and Owens’ claim under the Attorney Preference Statute. At most, it would affect one possible remedy, subject to a trial court’s discretion in any event, and contingent on a finding of unconscionability. No controlling precedent holds that a general and generic reference in a complaint to “all relief available” under a statute, which contains one damage remedy that might be affected by foreclosure, is sufficient to satisfy SCRCF 13(a)’s logical relationship test.

Bailey and Owens contend that “[n]ever once has any case analyzing whether a counterclaim was compulsory or permissive taken [a prayer for relief] into account.” (Brief at 25). If true, this merely shows that Petitioners’ arguments—which forced the Court of Appeals to consider the prayer for relief in the first place—may be creative but find no support in precedent.

B. The trial court’s ability to conform judgments to the evidence under SCRPC 54(c) does not dictate the scope of compulsory counterclaims under SCRPC 13(a), and doing so would be plainly unreasonable and unworkable.

In the trial court, Bailey and Owens focused on the above argument that their broad-brush, catch-all prayer for relief placed each and every possible outcome—no matter how attenuated—at issue in the 2013 Action. Now, just as they did before the Court of Appeals, Bailey and Owens move the goalposts, contending that they were not even required to seek non-enforcement of the Note (and/or reference § 37-10-105(C)) because, under SCRPC 54(c), a party is entitled to all relief to which he or she is entitled. (Brief at 25–26). Deutsche Bank does not dispute the plain language of Rule 54(c).¹⁷ However, the issue of whether a party is entitled to relief on the one hand, and the issue of whether a defendant receives notice of the relief sought sufficient to enable it to calculate the scope of compulsory counterclaims on the other hand, are two separate issues.

It is elementary that a party cannot know whether a counterclaim is logically related to an opposing party’s claim unless and until he is informed of the full scope of the opposing party’s claim. A finding that the scope of compulsory counterclaims is somehow coextensive with the unknowable and indeterminate relief a trial court might afford under SCRPC 54(c)—including

¹⁷ For clarity, when Petitioners say “[t]he cases agree” (Brief at 25), they are merely citing cases that quote SCRPC 54(c). See *Battery Homeowners Ass’n v. Lincoln Fin. Resources, Inc.*, 309 S.C. 247, 251, 422 S.E.2d 93, 95–96 (1992); *Perry v. Smalls*, 308 S.C. 259, 264, 417 S.E.2d 611, 614 (Ct. App. 1992); *Sossamon v. Peeler*, 291 S.C. 256, 258, 353 S.E.2d 152, 154 (Ct. App. 1987); *Jones v. Bennett*, 290 S.C. 96, 97, 348 S.E.2d 365, 365 (Ct. App. 1986). None of these cases concerns or even discusses compulsory counterclaims, much less counterclaims in general.

relief a trial court might mete out via its broad inherent authority, apparently—would make it difficult (if not impossible) for litigants to ever know whether a prospective counterclaim was compulsory, and would lead to more of the “gotcha” arguments that underly this appeal.

C. The Court of Appeals’ decision does not create a foreclosure exception to Rule 13(a).

Finally, Petitioners contend that the Court of Appeals’ decision creates an alleged foreclosure exception to the permissive-versus-compulsory distinction under Rule 13. (*See* Brief at 26–29). Specifically, Petitioners take issue with the following statement from the Court of Appeals’ opinion:

We acknowledge *DAV Corp.*; *BADD, L.L.C.*; and *Salon Proz, LLC* all held that a claim is compulsory in a foreclosure action when, if the allegation were true, it could affect the enforceability of the loan. However, this case differs from the foregoing cases because here the prior action was not a foreclosure action.

(R. p. 716 (internal footnote omitted)). But everything about the foregoing statement is accurate. It is true that the leading claim in *DAV Corp.*, *BADD, L.L.C.*, and *Salon Proz* was a foreclosure claim. It is also true that the leading claim in the 2013 Action was *not* a foreclosure claim. Rather, Bailey and Owens brought claims against Deutsche Bank for violation of the Attorney Preference Statute and the SCUTPA. Given that “the prior action was not a foreclosure action,” the Court of Appeals correctly considered “whether a counterclaim for foreclosure in the 2013 Action would have affected Mortgagors’ claims under the Attorney Preference Statute and the SCUTPA.” (R. p. 716). This is not a “double standard.” (Brief at 10). Rather, it is a straightforward application of the cases on which both parties rely.¹⁸

¹⁸ The issue of whether “Bailey and Owens’ claim under S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-105(C) would have been compulsory to Deutsche Bank’s foreclosure claim if the latter had been brought first” (Brief at 29) is not before the Court. Deutsche Bank rejects the notion that the Court of Appeals “seem[ed] to contemplate” any such rule or holding.

Bailey and Owens’ contention that the Court of Appeals should have instead considered whether their leading claims in the 2013 Action would have affected a prospective foreclosure action (*see* Brief at 27), is inconsistent with controlling precedent. By contending that “[t]he compulsory counterclaim principle runs . . . with equal force in both directions” (Brief at 27), Bailey and Owens are taking the position that the posture of a particular claim—be it a leading claim or a counterclaim—is irrelevant to the determination of whether a counterclaim is permissive or compulsory. But that contention does not comport with controlling precedent discussed in *supra* Section I(A), which concerns itself with whether a counterclaim would affect a leading claim, and not the other way around. In *DAV Corp.*, this Court did not ask whether the lender’s foreclosure action was a defense to, or would affect the enforceability of the defendant’s counterclaim for breach of an oral contract. *See* 298 S.C. at 518, 381 S.E.2d at 905. In *BADD*, this Court did not consider whether the bank’s foreclosure claim was a defense to, or would affect the enforceability of the guarantor’s counterclaims for civil conspiracy and breach of contract. *See* 414 S.C. at 296, 778 S.E.2d at 109–110. And in *Salon Proz*, the Court of Appeals did not evaluate whether the leading foreclosure claim was a defense to, or affected the enforceability of the mortgagor’s SCUTPA counterclaim. *See* 420 S.C. at 97, 800 S.E.2d at 492. Bailey and Owens’ position finds no support in these cases.

The Petitioners’ contention also side-steps the context in which the permissive-versus-compulsory determination is made. At that stage in litigation, one or more leading claims have already been filed by a plaintiff. The question faced by a litigant (or a trial court) at that time is how the addition of a prospective counterclaim might affect the proceedings, or whether the addition of the prospective counterclaim would help “prevent multiplicity of actions.” *Twillman*, 351 S.C. at 62, 566 S.E.2d at 865. The prospective counterclaim—and whether it is compulsory

or permissive—is necessarily oriented to and around the leading filed claim, which is being actively litigated, and which it considers joining in an existing lawsuit. Reorienting and reversing the evaluation—as Bailey and Owens ask this Court to do—by making the permissive-versus-compulsory determination by asking whether or how a filed leading claim might affect the viability of an unfiled prospective counterclaim is unworkable in practice and ignores the procedural posture in which these issues arise.

Bailey and Owens’ erroneous argument appears to be predicated on their overly expansive view of the logical relationship test, which would have the effect of making almost every counterclaim a compulsory counterclaim based on mere overlapping facts.¹⁹

V. A finding in Bailey and Owens’ favor would be inconsistent with South Carolina and federal policy directives and would have significant negative implications for borrowers, the mortgage industry, and the courts alike.

Reversing the Court of Appeals’ decision would turn the mortgage lending industry on its head, causing lenders and loan servicers to sue first and ask questions later.²⁰ In a 2011 Administrative Order, the Supreme Court of South Carolina set forth—as the policy in the state of South Carolina—that loss mitigation efforts are in the best interests of all parties, mortgagors and mortgagees alike. *See* Administrative Order of the Supreme Court of South Carolina, Re:

¹⁹ Bailey and Owens’ finally contend that Deutsche Bank’s argument has the potential to result in conflicting outcomes. (Brief at p. 28). They maintain “it would have been possible for Bailey and Owens to prevail in [the 2013 Action], obtain a judgment declaring the note and mortgage to be unenforceable, and yet still be exposed to Deutsche Bank possibly prevailing on a claim to enforce and foreclose that same note and mortgage in a later action.” (*Id.*) If, hypothetically, the Note and Mortgage were deemed unenforceable in a prior action, Deutsche Bank would not bring a subsequent foreclosure action, much less prevail in any such action. There is no conflict here, not even a possible conflict.

²⁰ *Cf. Marais v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.*, 676 F. App’x 509, 514 (6th Cir. 2017) (“If foreclosure is a compulsory counterclaim in response to claims brought by borrowers under federal consumer-protection statutes, as Plaintiff contends, then every act of a consumer to vindicate her rights under those laws could come with the risk of losing her home in the process.”).

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